IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

VS.

WESTLAND LIBERTY VILLAGE, LLC, and WESTLAND VILLAGE SQUARE, LLC,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case Non&21174Filed Jun 22 2021 05:04 p.m. District Court Caseli Nabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court A-20-819412-B

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Kerry Earley/ The Honorable Mark Denton¹

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Introduction and Summary of the Argument

Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") brought suit against Westland Liberty Village, LLC and Westland Village Square, LLC (together, "Westland") after a severe drop in occupancy followed by an inspection of Westland's two multi-family properties revealed that the properties needed \$2.8 million in necessary repairs. The loan documents, under which Westland owes more than \$37 million and which govern the parties' rights and responsibilities, explicitly provide that Fannie Mae has: (i) a right to inspect the Properties, (ii) a right to demand an increase in reserves to address property condition issues, and (iii) that Westland's failure to pay that demand is a payment default and an automatic default event. The loan documents further provide that Fannie Mae is entitled to an appointment of a receiver upon Westland's default. Here, Westland failed to deposit the \$2.8 million in reserves as the loan documents require, which failure constituted a default. Accordingly, Fannie Mae promptly applied for the appointment of a receiver after initiating this action.

Westland, however, convinced the district court to deny the appointment of a receiver and issue sweeping injunctive relief based on

its unsubstantiated claims that it had made many of the repairs at issue. And, rather than enforcing the terms of the loan documents – the parties' contract – the district court evaluated Westland's claims of repairs and concluded that there was a "question of fact" as to whether Westland had Crucially though, the district court based its equivocal defaulted. question-of-fact conclusion on the possibility that Westland had unilaterally made some of the repairs - not whether Westland had defaulted as defined by the Loan Documents. In doing so, the district court wholly ignored the parties' contract and instead substituted its own vague notions of what constitutes a default. The district court's refusal to apply the terms of the agreements that establish the parties' rights and obligations is an error of law, and Fannie Mae appeals from the district court's Order Granting Westland's Motion for Preliminary Injunction and Denying Application for Appointment of Receiver (the "Order").

In addition to denying Fannie Mae's application for appointment of a receiver and enjoining the foreclosure sale of the subject properties, the Order grants various and sweeping injunctive relief in favor of Westland, which was neither part of Westland's motion nor the court's hearing. Those provisions, added by virtue of Westland's including them in the proposed order they submitted to the district court, impose a wideranging host of affirmative obligations on "Fannie Mae, including, without limitation, Fannie Mae's servicers. affiliates. agents, representatives, officers, managers, directors, shareholders, members, partners, trustees, and other persons exercising or having control over the affairs of Fannie Mae (collectively the "Enjoined Parties")", including ordering the Enjoined Parties to rescind Notices of Default, withdraw Notices of Demand, disburse more than \$1.4 million to Westland, and give Westland and their affiliates preferential lending status with respect to unrelated and future loans. These overextensive provisions, which go far beyond the two Westland properties at issue and improperly force the Enjoined Parties to lend or refinance in the future to strangers to this litigation, against their will and in frustration of statutory missions, are unsupported by (1) the evidence before the district court, (2) the district court's findings, and (3) state and federal laws.

Fannie Mae therefore appeals from the from the granting of the wide-ranging, unsupported, mandatory injunctive relief and the denial of its application for receiver.

Statement of the Issues

- 1. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law by disregarding the parties' contractual rights and obligations under the loan documents in determining whether Westland had defaulted.
- 2. Whether the district court abused its discretion by issuing an injunction requiring Fannie Mae and other Enjoined Parties to perform a host of affirmative obligations, including disbursing money and engaging in future lending activity, with Westland and its non-party affiliates.
- 3. Whether the district court abused its discretion by denying Fannie Mae's application for a receiver, which was explicitly provided for as a remedy under the Loan Documents.

Statement of the Case

I. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This appeal arises from Westland's default under the terms of the Loan Documents and Fannie Mae's subsequent application for the appointment of a receiver.

II. Proceedings Below

Fannie Mae filed its Application for Appointment of Receiver on August 12, 2020, requesting that a receiver be appointed over the Properties based on Westland's defaults. Fannie Mae also asserted that without a receiver, the Properties may continue to suffer significant damage and diminution in value. On August 31, 2020, Westland opposed the Application and filed a Counter-Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and/or Preliminary Injunction ("Countermotion") seeking to prevent Fannie Mae from proceeding with its foreclosures of the Properties. Specifically, Westland requested that the court "prevent[] and enjoin[] Plaintiff from conducting any foreclosure proceedings, foreclosure sale, or appointing a receiver related to the Properties pending a determination of the rights and obligations of the parties pursuant to the Loan Agreements." APP1309.

The district court held a hearing on October 13, 2020 and held:

Here is my ruling on the Plaintiff's Motion for Appointment of Receiver. I feel there is a factual dispute on whether there is a default by defendant [sic] in this case, so there is no mandatory statute that says I must ... appoint a receiver, as I feel there is a dispute, a factual dispute whether there is or is not a default.... I'm denying it.

As far as the Defendants' Countermotion for a Preliminary Injunction Regarding the Notice of the Foreclosure, I applied the 65 standard as well as the NRS -- what's the other one? I always -- 33.010 standard. I do find that, at this point, there is irreparable harm and that standard is met because it is property. I also find that there is a reasonable probability of

success on the merits as far as what -- there's a question of fact as to whether there was a default, etcetera.

APP1503.

The court clarified that its ruling would only prohibit Fannie Mae from recording a Notice of Sale: "I'm stopping Fannie Mae from going forward with anything...." APP1505. The district court declined to make factual findings or legal conclusions when there was a factual dispute on the record. APP1504.

Despite the limited scope of the ruling at the hearing, the court entered Westland's form of order (over Fannie Mae's objection), which granted expansive relief not sought in their motion nor addressed at the hearing. In addition to the ruling the district court had announced, denying the appointment of a receiver and granting Westland's request to enjoin the foreclosure sale, the written order also included a litany of injunctive relief — most of which imposes affirmative burdens that Westland never requested on Fannie Mae and the other Enjoined Parties. Specifically, the Order directed the Enjoined Parties to "remove from title" of the Properties the Notices of Default and Election to Sell that had been recorded on July 8, 2020; to service the loans in particular ways (turn over to Westland the monthly debt service invoices for the Property,

process loan payments consistent with the terms of the loan agreement); return funds Westland voluntarily paid in excess of the non-default monthly debt service payments, which excess funds Westland paid between February 2020 and the present; disburse loan collateral currently held in the Restoration Reserve Account, which total more than \$900,000 retract or strike the Notice of Demand; rescind the Notices of Default and Acceleration of Note, dated December 17, 2019; and interfere with Fannie Mae's right to choose or reject its business counterparties by forcing it to treat unspecified Westland entities favorably in relation to other or new loans, including by not "blacklisting" any Westland entity on new loan or loan refinancing applications, not adding a fee to any loan quoted and not adding an interest rate surcharge to such applications.

The district court set a bond in the de minimis sum of \$1,000.00.

APP1581. Fannie Mae timely appealed on November 30, 2020.

APP1585. Westland posted their \$1,000 bond on December 1, 2020.

² The Order provides that the Enjoined Parties, including but not limited to Fannie Mae may not "take any adverse action against any Westland entity in relation to other loans, discriminate against or blacklist any Westland entity on new loan or loan refinancing applications." Notably "blacklist" is not a term of art but hyperbole aimed at requiring Fannie Mae to enter into loans with separate entities claiming to be Westland affiliates on favorable terms.

Factual Background

I. The Loan Documents and Related Agreements.

On November 2, 2017, Westland Village Square's predecessor-in-interest and Fannie Mae's predecessor-in-interest (SunTrust Bank) entered the "Village Square Loan Agreement" setting forth the terms of a mortgage loan of \$9,366,00.00. APP002, APP016-158. The loan also included the "Village Square Note" in that amount, together with interest and the "Village Square Deed of Trust" to secure repayment. The Village Square Deed of Trust encumbers the "Village Square Property," which includes an apartment complex known as the "Village Square Apartments." APP002, APP160-193.

On the same date, Westland Liberty Village's predecessor-in-interest and Fannie Mae's predecessor-in-interest (again, SunTrust) executed the "Liberty Village Loan Agreement" for a mortgage loan of \$29,000,000.00. APP 003, APP220-420. The loan also included the "Liberty Village Note" that amount, together with interest, and the

³ The Village Square Loan Agreement, the Village Square Note, the Village Square Deed of Trust, and the documents related thereto are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Village Square Loan Documents."

"Liberty Village Deed of Trust" ⁴ to secure repayment. APP004, APP421-27. The Liberty Village Deed of Trust encumbers the "Liberty Village Property," which includes an apartment complex known as the "Liberty Village Apartments." APP004, APP428-56. SunTrust assigned both Loans to Fannie Mae, and Westland subsequently assumed the obligations under the Village Square and Liberty Village Loan Documents. APP4-5, APP462-82.

II. Westland's Defaults and Fannie Mae's Rights Under the Loan.

Following Westland's assumption, Fannie Mae noticed a dramatic drop in the occupancy rates at the Village Square Property and Liberty Village Property (collectively the "Properties"). APP1447 (noting the drop in occupancy from approximately 80% to 45% during the year that Westland managed the Properties). Westland admitted that the occupancy rates had declined and that their affiliates had to inject substantial money into the Properties to cover their monthly debt service obligations due to low occupancy. APP1304-05. As such, Fannie Mae

⁴ The Liberty Village Loan Agreement, the Liberty Village Note, the Liberty Village Deed of Trust, and the documents related thereto are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Liberty Village Loan Documents."

requested inspection of the Properties in July 2019 pursuant to its right under Section § 6.02(d)⁵ of the Loan Agreements. APP1447.

Based on the July 2019 inspections, Fannie Mae determined that property condition assessments ("PCAs")⁶ were necessary to determine the extent of the Properties' deterioration. Fannie Mae requested access to the Properties to perform the PCAs, which Westland granted to Fannie Mae and its expert, f3, Inc. ("f3"). APP483-1254. The PCAs indicated the need for immediate repairs totaling \$2,845,980 (\$1,092,835 for Village Square and \$1,753,145 for Liberty Village), many of which involved safety issues. APP493, 801.

_

⁵ Section 6.02(d) of the Loan Agreements provide that the "Borrower shall permit Lender, its agents, representatives, and designees to enter upon and inspect the Mortgaged Property (including in connection with any Preplacement or Repair, ... and shall cooperate and provide access to all areas of the Mortgage Property (subject to the rights of tenants under the Leases))." APP052-53, 256-57.

⁶ PCAs are provided for in section 6.03(c) of the Loan Agreements which provide: "If, in connection with any inspection of the Mortgaged Property, Lender determines that the condition of the Mortgaged Property has deteriorated (ordinary wear and tear excepted) since the Effective Date, Lender may obtain, at Borrower's expense, a property condition assessment of the Mortgaged Property." See APP052, 256 (emphasis added).

Due to the substantial repairs needed, the cost of those repairs, and the fact that the repair escrow accounts held only \$106,217 (Village Square) and \$246,047 (Liberty Village) respectively, to cover the cost, Fannie Mae delivered the PCAs to Westland, together with an October 18, 2019 Notice of Demand for each Property, outlining Westland's obligations to make the repairs and to deposit a total of \$2,845,980 (\$1,092,835 for Village Square and \$1,753,145 for Liberty Village) into certain repair and replacement accounts within the thirty (30) days required by the Loan Agreements.⁷ APP 1255-68. The Notice of Demand also advised that the Monthly Replacement Reserve Deposits were being

 $APP085, 289 (\S 13.02(a)(4) - emphasis added).$

⁷ Section 13.02(a)(4) of the Loan Agreements provide in relevant part:

Insufficient Funds. Lender may, upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Borrower, require an additional deposit(s) to the Replacement Reserve Account or Repairs Escrow Account, or an increase in the amount of the Monthly Replacement Reserve Deposit, if Lender determines that the amounts on deposit in either the Replacement Reserve Account or the Repairs Escrow Account are not sufficient to cover the costs for Required Repairs or Required Replacements, pursuant to the terms or, Section 13.02(a)(9), not sufficient to cover the costs for Borrower Requested Repairs, Additional Lender Repairs, Borrower Requested Replacements, or Additional Lender Replacements....

increased effective December 1, 2019 by \$8,160 per month to \$26,760 for Liberty Village and by \$1,397.42 per month to \$11,656.50 for Village Square. APP1257, 1264. Westland's deadline to make efforts to complete the repairs and to deposit the funds in the respective accounts was November 17, 2019.

Westland failed to meet their obligations under the Loan Documents by failing to make adequate repairs and refusing to fund the repair and replacement accounts, instead attempting to unilaterally avoid their obligations by replacing the requirement that they pay into the Reserve Accounts approximately \$2.845 million with merely submitting a strategic improvement plan – essentially, a proposal for making repairs. APP1409-18. In doing so, Westland admitted that the Properties needed repairs of at least \$1,218,125.12. APP1415. Westland has not funded the Reserve Accounts pursuant to the October 18, 2019 Notice of Demand, which constitutes a payment default and an automatic event of default. Westland also failed to provide Fannie Mae with any

-

⁸ (a) **Automatic Events of Default**. Any of the following shall constitute an automatic Event of Default: (1) any failure by Borrower to pay or deposit when due any amount required by the Note, this Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document.
-and-

evidence of the repairs Westland claims they completed or access for Fannie Mae to analyze the purported repairs, which was necessary to determine the Properties' condition. Westland's refusal forced Fannie Mae to initiate this action.

Westland Liberty Village then sought to compel Fannie Mae to reimburse it for repairs that were made to fire-damaged apartment units, even though Westland is in breach of the Loan Agreements by failing to fund the required \$2.845 million into the various reserve accounts and has refused to allow inspection. But Westland's monetary defaults permit Fannie Mae to withhold any disbursements from the collateral accounts, including the Restoration Reserve Account. ⁹ Because the

⁽b) ... any failure by Borrower to perform any obligations under this Loan Agreement or any Loan Document that is subject to a specified written notice and cure period, which failure continues beyond such specified written notice and cure period as set forth herein or in the applicable Loan Document. APP092-93, 296-97.

⁹ Section 14.02(b) of the Liberty Village Loan Agreement states, "[i]f an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Borrower shall immediately lose all of its rights to receive disbursements from . . . any Collateral Accounts." APP094-95, 298-99, 374, 389 (§§ 14.02(b) and 17.03(a)(1)).] Section 17.03(a)(1) likewise provides that Fannie Mae is not "obligated to disburse funds from the Restoration Reserve Account if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. *Id*.

Events of Default are continuing, ¹⁰ Westland was not entitled to disbursement of funds from the Restoration Reserve Account. ¹¹

Standard of Review

Contract interpretation presents a question of law subject to de novo review. Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro, 131 Nev. 737, 739, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015); Fed. Ins. Co. v. Coast Converters, 130 Nev. 960, 965, 339 P.3d 1281, 1284 (2014).

The granting of a preliminary injunction lies within the discretion of the district court and is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Buchanan, 112 Nev. 1146, 1150, 924 P.2d 716, 719 (1996). "While the granting of a preliminary injunction lies within the discretion of the district court, the reasons for its issuance must be sufficiently clear." Id., 112 Nev. at 1150, 924 P.2d at 719 (citing Las Vegas Novelty v. Fernandez, 106 Nev. 113, 118–19, 787 P.2d 772, 775 (1990)). Likewise, "the appointment of a receiver is an action within the trial court's sound

¹⁰ Westland disputes the default, and the district court found that there was a "question of fact" as to whether there is a default.

¹¹ On May 4, 2021, Fannie Mae paid Westland the total sum of \$1,456,348.46 in full compliance with the Order and to avoid contempt proceedings in the district court.

discretion and will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse." *Med. Device All., Inc. v. Ahr*, 116 Nev. 851, 862, 8 P.3d 135, 142 (2000). But, where the district court applies the wrong law or legal standard, that issue is a purely legal question, subject to de novo review. *Staccato v. Valley Hosp.*, 123 Nev. 526, 531, 170 P.3d 503, 506 (2007) (citing *Milton v. State, Dep't of Prisons*, 119 Nev. 163, 68 P.3d 895 (2003)).

Argument

I. The District Court Erred as a Matter of Law by Failing to Apply the Terms of the Loan Documents – the Parties' Contract.

In concluding that there was a "question of fact" as to whether Westland had defaulted, the district court wholly departed from the parties' contract and instead substituted its own unspecified definition of "default." Indeed, there are no disputed issues of fact as to whether Westland defaulted as defined by the contract.

Parties are free to contract, and the courts will enforce their contracts if they are not unconscionable, illegal, or in violation of public policy. *Rivero v. Rivero*, 125 Nev. 410, 429, 216 P.3d 213, 226–27 (2009); *NAD, Inc. v. Dist. Ct.*, 115 Nev. 71, 77, 976 P.2d 994, 997 (1999) (stating "parties are free to contract in any lawful matter"). Here, the Loan Documents, which establish the parties' respective rights and

obligations, impose a continuing obligation that Westland pay all expenses for the Properties' maintenance and provide that Westland's failure to maintain the properties is an automatic Event of Default. APP050.¹² The Loan Documents empower Fannie Mae to enforce this obligation to maintain the Properties by allowing it to: (1) inspect the Properties and, if necessary, to repair and maintain the Properties; and (2) require Westland to make additional deposits into the Repairs Escrow Accounts and/or to increase the Monthly Replacement Reserve Accounts. APP085, 289 (§ 13.02(a)(4)). The Loan Documents further provide that the failure to "pay or deposit" the additional funds in the Repairs Escrow Accounts and the Monthly Replacement Reserve Accounts is an automatic Event of Default under the Loan Documents. APP092-93, 296-**97**. ¹³ If the required amount is deposited into the Repairs Escrow Accounts and the Monthly Replacement Reserve Accounts, absent an

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