IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

VS.

WESTLAND LIBERTY VILLAGE, LLC, and WESTLAND VILLAGE SQUARE, LLC

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Aug 30 2021 04:54 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 82174

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

J. Colby Williams, Esq. (5549) Philip R. Erwin, Esq. (11563) CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 710 South Seventh Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 382-5222

Counsel for Respondents Westland Liberty Village, LLC and Westland Village Square, LLC¹

¹ Additional counsel for Respondents are identified below.

VERIFICATION

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

While Westland acknowledges that it did not blindly comply with the Demand, Fannie Mae fails to consider or meaningfully address the district court's finding that the Demand was not justified under the loan agreements at the outset. Indeed, under Fannie Mae's view of the operative agreements, it has the unfettered right in its sole discretion to demand deposits into the Repair Reserve and Replacement Reserve accounts irrespective of whether there is a legal or factual basis to support the demands—and there was not. Given Fannie Mae's apparent belief that it (and not the district court) is the exclusive arbiter of what constitutes a default, it is little wonder that Fannie Mae only engaged in a superficial analysis of the substantive provisions of the loan agreements. Here, Fannie Mae's Demand suffered from several glaring defects. *First*, the loan agreements expressly prohibit Fannie Mae from making increased reserve demands on grounds that the existing reserves are purportedly "insufficient." Specifically, an "adjustment to deposits" for reserve schedules is permitted under Section 13.02(a)(3), but *only* at the time a loan is renewed or transferred, *i.e.*, at the time of purchase in August 2018 when Fannie Mae actually reduced the reserves for the Properties. APP084-APP085.⁹ Fannie Mae cannot unilaterally adjust the deposits on a whim simply because it regrets not raising the repair and replacement schedules when Westland assumed the obligations under the loan agreements at the time of purchase.

Second, Section 13.02(a)(4) permits increases when the amount in the Required Repair or Replacement account is insufficient to perform the specific line items listed in the loan schedules when the loan is issued or assumed. Section 13.02(a)(4) also permits increases for Additional Lender Repair or Additional Lender Replacements provided they are "*repairs of the type listed* on the Required Repair Schedule" or "Required Replacement Schedule" but not specifically identified within

⁹ Fannie Mae, in fact, modified the Liberty Village and Village Square schedules when Westland assumed the loan agreements. Although Fannie Mae did not alter the amounts of the monthly replacement funding, Fannie Mae revised the Required Repair Schedule for Village Square to reflect that no required repairs were necessary. APP1365; SA0656; SA0666. Fannie Mae likewise reduced the Required Repair Schedule for Liberty Village and clarified that there were only \$9,375 of remaining repairs. *Id.* Those revisions resulted in total repair and replacement reserves for both Properties in the amount of \$143,319.28, which Westland funded in compliance with the loan agreements.

those explicit schedules. APP085; APP108 (emphasis added). In this case, the scheduled items only identified a handful of minor repairs with a total value of \$143,319.30 whereas Fannie Mae's \$2.85 million demand requested wholesale changes far beyond that limited scope. SA0643-SA0648; SA0654; SA0664; SA0668. Moreover, if Fannie Mae categorized this drastic increase as Additional Lender Repairs or Additional Lender Replacements, Fannie Mae would still need to comply with Section 13.02(a)(9)(B), which incorporates the deterioration requirement of Section 6.03(c). APP088-APP090.

Third, under Section 6.03(c), Fannie Mae can only obtain a PCA when "the *condition* of Mortgaged Property has *deteriorated* (*ordinary wear and tear excepted*) *since the Effective Date*" of the loan. APP054 (emphasis added). Here, Fannie Mae admits it relied on a decline in "occupancy" as the purported deterioration, but "occupancy" is inconsistent with the loan agreements' definition of "condition of the Mortgaged Property." Indeed, Section 6.01(d) states the "condition of the Mortgaged Property" only applies to physical onsite conditions, including "the construction or condition of the Mortgaged Property or . . . any structural or other material defect" and "any damage other than damage which has been fully repaired." APP049. There is no mention of occupancy levels, which Fannie Mae concedes was the basis for obtaining the f3 PCA and demanding additional deposits from Westland. OB at 9-10.

Moreover, Fannie Mae's reliance on reduced occupancy levels ignores that this

temporary issue only emanated from Westland's efforts to reduce crime at the Properties with better security, stricter leasing guidelines, better coordination with law enforcement and the eviction of offending tenants. Importantly, Westland was *required* to undertake these measures to comply with Section 6.02(c)(3), which provides that Westland will "not engage in or knowingly permit, and shall take appropriate measures to prevent and abate or cease and desist, any illegal activities at the [Properties] that could endanger tenants or visitors, result in damages to the [Properties], result in forfeiture of the Land or otherwise materially impair the lien[.]" APP052.

Additionally, Fannie Mae did not—and could not—produce any evidence establishing deterioration since the effective date of the loans as opposed to conditions that already existed before Westland purchased the Properties. APP1429-APP1430. Put another way, the f3 report upon which Fannie Mae's Demand was premised did not account for the baseline condition of the Properties at the time of purchase.¹⁰

Fannie Mae attempts to minimize f3's error by shifting the blame back to Westland for allegedly not conducting sufficient due diligence to determine the condition of the Properties at the time of purchase. *See* OB at 24-25. This argument

¹⁰ The f3 report similarly sought reserves for costs of routine maintenance, but Section 13.02(a)(5)(B) explicitly provides Fannie Mae "shall not disburse from the Repair Escrow Account the costs of routine maintenance." APP085. Fannie Mae, stated differently, was demanding that Westland deposit funds for routine maintenance that could never be reimbursed under the loan agreements.

misses the point entirely. Far from "irrelevant," the condition of the Properties on "the Effective Date" establishes the initial state of the Properties for the purpose of determining when PCAs and additional deposits are required after the time of purchase. Again, to the extent Fannie Mae believed the reserve accounts were deficient at the time Westland purchased the Properties, Fannie Mae was obligated to demand additional deposits before Westland assumed the loan agreements rather than unilaterally demanding millions of dollars based on the flawed f3 report or Grandbridge's faulty underwriting.

Fourth, assuming *arguendo* the PCA was properly conducted and the Demand was related to a condition listed in a schedule, Fannie Mae improperly failed to provide Westland an opportunity to complete identified repairs as required by Section 6.02(b)(3)(B) & (C) before mandating a multi-million dollar deposit. APP050-APP051; *cf.* APP1263-APP1268. Fannie Mae's decision to disregard Westland's contractual right to perform the identified repairs is particularly egregious since Westland provided its Strategic Improvement Plan for the Properties, which discussed Westland's ongoing plans to renovate the Properties, provided timelines for remaining renovations to be made, and addressed deficiencies identified by f3 that had already been corrected. SA0020-SA0342. Additionally, the reserve increase for required repairs was duplicative of the reserve increase for monthly replacement deposits attributable to deferred maintenance. SA0343-SA0348. For all of these

reasons, Westland was clearly entitled to challenge Fannie Mae's unreasonable and baseless Demand.

2. Westland did not Default Because There was no Deterioration to The Properties.

Notwithstanding that the f3 report was irreparably flawed at the time of its creation in September 2019, Fannie Mae fails to account for the fact that the f3 report was stale when Fannie Mae brought this receivership action in August 2020. Westland invested an additional \$1.7 million in capital improvements to the Properties and addressed many of the issues raised by the f3 report between the September 2019 PCA and the filing of this lawsuit. SA0359; APP1557. Westland likewise completed a large number of work orders to prepare vacant units for rental as evidenced by the 2,200 pages of completed work orders from September 2019 through June 2020 that Westland submitted for the district court's consideration. *Id.*

Because Westland submitted "substantial evidence" regarding its improvements to the Properties both before and after the f3 PCA, the district court unequivocally found that there was no deterioration of the Properties as would be required to support Fannie Mae's Demand and Default. APP1558. To the contrary, the district court determined that "Westland had shown the opposite [of deterioration to the Properties] at this early stage, even without formal discovery." *Id.* Because Westland conclusively demonstrated the Properties had not deteriorated, the district court correctly found "there can be no default by Westland's not placing additional funds in those two accounts." *Id.* Had Fannie Mae sought access to inspect the Properties prior to bringing this receivership action or requested information regarding Westland's continued improvements to the Properties, Fannie Mae likely would have realized its receivership application based on the out-of-date f3 report was meritless. But Fannie Mae did not and, true to form, now seeks to blame Westland for its own inaction by representing that "Westland did not allow any independent confirmation of the repairs they claim to have made[.]" *See* OB at 22. Fannie Mae even goes so far as to represent that "had Westland provided evidence of the repairs and permitted Fannie Mae to inspect the Properties and confirm the repairs Westland had claimed to complete, Fannie Mae might have never been forced to initiate this action." *Id.* at 21.

It is undisputed that Fannie Mae did not seek to inspect the Properties following the issuance of the f3 report until *after* Westland submitted its opposition and motion for injunctive relief, which placed Fannie Mae on notice that its receivership action was premised on incorrect and outdated information. In other words, Fannie Mae only sought to inspect (and, in fact, conduct another PCA) when the parties' dispute had already proceeded to litigation. Thus, Fannie Mae's contentions that Westland is somehow to blame for Fannie Mae's own ignorance of the Properties' condition when it filed this receivership action are completely baseless.

And, while Fannie Mae references in passing that it was eventually allowed to inspect the Properties, Fannie Mae tellingly neglects to mention the results of the

inspection. Indeed, in April 2021, Fannie Mae produced two new PCA reports for the Properties that were conducted one month earlier. SA0780-SA1055. Those reports indicated that the correct amount of Westland's Replacement and Repair Reserve Accounts is, at most, a mere \$436,005. SA0798; SA0937. Put another way, Fannie Mae is pursuing this action to foreclose on the Properties for Westland's refusal to comply with the \$2.85 million Demand when Fannie Mae's own PCA reports establish the Demand was inflated by more than \$2.4 million. Id. Moreover, Fannie Mae's new PCA reports confirm that Westland's current Repair and Replacement Reserve Accounts for the Properties—which contain \$1,001,610.30 are more than double the required amount. SA1173-SA1180. Because Fannie Mae's new PCA reports eviscerate its grounds for bringing this receivership action, Westland questions how Fannie Mae can, in good faith, continue to claim the district court's order constituted an abuse of discretion.

C. The District Court Did Not Enter A Mandatory Injunction, And Instead Preserved The *Status Quo Ante Litem*.

A preliminary injunction is meant to preserve the status quo and prevent irreparable harm pending a hearing. *Dangberg Holdings Nevada, L.L.C. v. Douglas County*, 115 Nev. 129, 146, 978 P.2d 311, 321 (1999). More specifically, "the sole purpose of a preliminary injunction is to preserve the *status quo ante litem* pending a determination of the action on the merits," *Sierra Forest Legacy v. Rey*, 577 F.3d 1015, 1023 (9th Cir. 2009), which is the "*last uncontested status [that] preceded the pending controversy*." *GoTo.com, Inc. v. Walt Disney Co.*, 202 F.3d 1199, 1210 (9th

Cir. 2000) (emphasis added); *cf. Pickett v. Comanche Const., Inc.*, 108 Nev. 422, 430, 836 P.2d 42, 47 (1992) (vacating judgment and reinstating injunction enjoining foreclosure to return to last uncontested status). In this case, the last uncontested status existed prior to issuance of the Default. The district court, through its order, simply endeavored to protect Westland from the negative consequences that "flowed" from the Default while the parties litigate the ongoing trial court proceedings and this appeal.

The district court's order prohibits Fannie Mae from: (1) proceeding with any foreclosure proceeding or foreclosure sale; (2) interfering with Westland's enjoyment of the Properties, and (3) using a receiver to displace Westland. The first and third categories are self-explanatory; the second category prohibits Fannie Mae from impairing the use, marketable title, and benefits of the Properties for business. The relief prevents Fannie Mae from saddling Westland with anything other than standard fair lending practices for a non-default loan during this appeal. Thus, the injunctive relief ordered by the district court is prohibitory because—in the absence of a legitimate default—Westland is entitled to have its payments auto-debited, to receive loan statements, to maintain clean title to its property, to collect rent, and to submit reserve reimbursement requests to obtain its own funds out of escrow.¹¹

¹¹ With respect to the insurance funds for the restoration of the two fire-damaged buildings, the injunction merely prevented Fannie Mae from blocking Westland's reimbursement requests based on the existence of the Default as there is no other reason for the money to be withheld. Fannie Mae has now complied with its

This relief does not order Fannie Mae "to take action" or "restore" the status quo as Fannie Mae is not required to engage in any conduct that is outside of its direct control and ordinary course of business when servicing a non-default loan. Accordingly, the legal authority submitted by Fannie Mae is clearly distinguishable. See e.g., Memory Gardens of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Pet Ponderosa Memorial Gardens, Inc., 88 Nev. 1, 4, 492 P.2d 123, 124 (1972) (finding "[s]tatus quo in this case was the growing lawn, plants and trees and that could only have been accomplished by restoring the water to the land" even if the land was rendered barren "before the action is instituted"); Elliott v. Denton & Denton, 109 Nev. 979, 982, 860 P.2d 725, 727-28 (1993) (ordering a law firm to pay funds for return of an impounded car is mandatory); Marlyn Nutraceuticals, Inc. v. Mucos Pharma GmbH & Co., 571 F.3d 873, 879 (9th Cir. 2009) (ordering a product recall is mandatory when the product was no longer in the producer's possession, had reached end customers, and required customers be paid restitution).

While Westland recognizes that an injunction compelling performance of a contract may be considered mandatory in certain circumstances, *see Dodge Bros. v. Gen. Petroleum Corp. of Nevada*, 54 Nev. 245, 10 P.2d 341 (1932), this is not such a case. Unlike *Dodge Bros.*— a brief, 90-year old opinion in which the underlying facts were not detailed—Westland did not seek, and the district court did not order,

obligations under the injunction and released the funds that were due to Westland over a year ago.

an injunction to prevent Fannie Mae from breaching the parties' loan agreements. To the contrary, Westland sought to enjoin the foreclosure proceedings premised on the defective Default and the adverse consequences that could flow therefrom. That the underlying order cites examples that would constitute prohibited acts does not transform it into a mandatory injunction. *Cf. International Union, United Mine Workers of America v. Bagwell*, 512 U.S. 821, 835-36, 114 S.Ct. 2552, 2561 (1994) (recognizing that "injunctive provisions containing essentially the same command can be phrased either in mandatory or prohibitory terms" and refusing to rely on such semantic distinctions when determining whether contempt sanctions were criminal or civil).

The district court's injunction does not compel Fannie Mae to take any extraordinary action but, rather, prohibits it from punishing Westland based on the improvidently-issued Default, an act the district court plainly found lacked merit. Fannie Mae's contention that the district court's order is mandatory rather than prohibitory is incorrect.

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